2004

Jon and Elizabeth Triesault, Raymon and Stephanie Bori, individuals, Imagination Theaters, Inc., a corporaiton, and Imagination Theaters Holdings, L.L.C., a limited liability company v. The Greater Sale Lake Business District, a Utah corporation, doing business as Deseret CDC : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

On July 21, 2004, the trial court issued a Ruling granting summary judgment in favor of the defendant and dismissing the complaint with prejudice. (Addendum at 1-30) On August 24, 2004, the court entered a final Order and Judgment dismissing the case with prejudice. (Record at 000977; hereinafter “Rec ____”) On September 16, 2004, plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal from the Order and Judgment. (Rec 000982) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that plaintiffs failed to raise a triable issue of fact on their breach of fiduciary duty claim.

This legal ruling was made on a motion for summary judgment and is therefore subject to *de novo* review. *Harline v. Barker*, 912 P.2d 433, 438 (Utah 1996). Plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal (Rec 000982), which preserved this error for appeal. Rule 3, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

II. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that plaintiffs failed to raise a triable issue of fact on their intentional interference with prospective economic relations claim.

This legal ruling was made on a motion for summary judgment and is therefore subject to *de novo* review. *Harline v. Barker*, 912 P.2d 433, 438 (Utah 1996). Plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal (Rec 000982), which preserved this error for appeal. Rule 3, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

III. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that plaintiffs failed to raise a triable issue of fact that defendant's actions caused plaintiffs' injuries.

This legal ruling was made on a motion for summary judgment and is therefore subject to *de novo* review. *Harline v. Barker*, 912 P.2d 433, 438 (Utah 1996). Plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal (Rec 000982), which preserved this error for appeal. Rule 3, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

APPLICABLE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

There are no statutory provisions of central importance to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Defendant Deseret Certified Development Company ("Deseret") is a "public finance specialist" that advertises that it works with clients "in assessing financial needs and in selecting the most appropriate public sector finance programs." What Deseret specifically does for clients is guide them through the Small Business Administration ("SBA") loan process. Deseret provides this service for a "contingent fee" in the sense that clients pay Deseret only if the clients get their SBA-backed loan.

Plaintiffs sought Deseret's assistance when they were unable to get conventional financing for a proposed movie theater in Spanish Fork. With Deseret in their corner, plaintiffs were able to secure the necessary SBA-backed financing to build and open their movie theater. The plaintiffs were business novices at the time, and Deseret's assistance was critical, both with respect to the financing issues, and also on a broad range of issues concerning the creation and operation of a successful new business venture.

Unfortunately, Deseret decided not only to assist in the creation of plaintiffs' business, but also to assist in its destruction. Soon after plaintiffs' theater opened, while still actively advising and representing plaintiffs, Deseret took on as a client a second group of investors that sought to open a theater in nearby Payson (the "Payson Group"). Deseret and the Payson Group knew that the area's population was insufficient to support two theaters in such close proximity. They nonetheless decided to move forward because they expected the newer Payson theater to drive plaintiffs' theater out of business and therefore succeed.

Their prediction came true. Deseret secured SBA-backed financing for the Payson Group's theater, and when it opened, revenues for plaintiffs' theater dropped precipitously and never recovered. Plaintiffs eventually filed for bankruptcy, losing not only their investment, but their life's savings as well.

There is, of course, no prohibition on one company attempting to drive another company out of business. Capitalism is built on unrestricted competition between businesses. There are, however, certain service providers such as attorneys, brokers, accountants and agents that undertake to loyally represent the interests of their clients, and as a result are held to a fiduciary obligation not to take actions contrary to their clients' interests.

Plaintiffs contend that by virtue of the extensive advice and representation that Deseret provided plaintiffs, Deseret took on fiduciary obligations and therefore could not represent a second client with contrary interests. The trial court, however, concluded that Deseret acted as a middleman arranging a transaction between plaintiffs and the SBA, and

therefore should not be held to an obligation of loyalty to the plaintiffs. The trial court's error was its attempt to sort this out on summary judgment. There is an extensive record of a complex relationship between plaintiffs and Deseret, and the question of whether Deseret acted as plaintiffs' agent and or fiduciary is a disputed issue of fact that should have been left to a trial.

The trial court also concluded that plaintiffs failed to raise an issue of fact as to causation. Plaintiffs' theory, in this regard, was quite simple. The evidence is undisputed that the Payson theater would never have opened without SBA-backed financing, and the evidence is also undisputed that only Deseret could secure SBA-backed financing for the Payson theater. Finally, the evidence is undisputed that business at plaintiffs' theater dropped dramatically and never recovered after the Payson theater opened. The trial court thought this insufficient to prove causation because other factors might have caused that drop, such as bad management by the plaintiffs or poor movie choices. In effect, the trial court ruled that to raise an issue of fact on causation, plaintiffs had to eliminate all potential alternative causes of the catastrophic drop in their business. This, however, is not the burden on summary judgment. Plaintiffs were required to show admissible evidence that defendants' conduct was a proximate cause of their injury, and the drastic and irreversible drop in business following the Payson theater's debut more than satisfied that burden.

Judge Howard struggled with the question of whether this case should be resolved by summary judgment. Deseret filed its first motion for summary judgment when the case was before Judge Laycock, and the motion was denied in its entirety. The case was then transferred to Judge Howard, and Deseret filed a second motion for summary judgment.

Judge Howard denied this second motion for summary judgment and set the matter for trial. In the course of pre-trial proceedings, however, Judge Howard began to have doubts about the prior rulings and *sua sponte* vacated the prior summary judgment rulings and ordered the matter reargued. After reargument, Judge Howard reversed the prior rulings and granted summary judgment. Plaintiffs submit, with respect, that in so doing Judge Howard became a fact finder, resolving disputed issues of fact that should have been resolved through trial.

Statement Of Facts

In reviewing the facts, it is useful to keep in mind the two related but analytically distinct services plaintiffs contend they received as defendant's client. First, plaintiffs contend Deseret acted as their agent, representing plaintiffs before the SBA. Applying for, using and repaying an SBA-backed loan is a complex process in which the borrower has to petition the SBA both for initial approval of the financing and later for any modifications that need to be made. Plaintiffs contend that Deseret petitioned the SBA on their behalf, making Deseret their agent for all matters before the SBA. Just like a lawyer making an argument in court on behalf of a client, Deseret petitioned the SBA on plaintiffs' behalf whenever necessary.

Second, plaintiffs contend that Deseret acted as a business advisor, consulting on all aspects of plaintiffs' movie theater project. Just as lawyers, accountants or stockbrokers provide advice to their clients in their respective areas of expertise, Deseret provided plaintiffs the expertise it had developed from years of assisting in the creation of new businesses in the Utah market.

Although the “agent before the SBA” and “business advisor” roles are interconnected and at times overlap, plaintiffs will show in the Argument section that they support two separate bases for finding that Deseret owed plaintiffs a fiduciary obligation of loyalty.

The start of plaintiffs’ movie theater project and Deseret’s offer of assistance

Plaintiff Jon Triesault, along with his wife Elizabeth, his friend Raymon Bori, and Raymon’s wife Stephanie, sought to open a movie theater in Spanish Fork. They later formed two corporations, Imagination Theaters, Inc. and Imagination Theaters Holding, LLC, which are also plaintiffs in this action. Mr. Triesault was the leader of the group. While he had a background in the movie industry, he had had no prior experience starting, operating or financing any kind of business. None of the four individual plaintiffs had any prior experience with, or knowledge of, SBA loan programs. (Rec 000544)

As with most new ventures, financing was the first order of business. Mr. Triesault talked with several banks about obtaining a loan, but these efforts bore no fruit.

Conventional financing was simply not available. (Rec 000544) In the course of talking to one of the banks about a conventional loan, Mr. Triesault met Mr. Vanchiere, a Vice-President of defendant Deseret Certified Development Company (“Deseret”). Mr. Triesault described their first meeting as follows:

Mr. Vanchiere came up to me and put his arm around me and said, I don’t think you’re going to get anywhere with the bank. But I like your idea and I can help you

get an SBA loan. And I can also help you get a bank that would also partially fund your project. (Triesault dep. 61)¹

After receiving further information from Mr. Triesault on his plans for the movie theater, Mr. Vanchiere agreed to both be a consultant and advisor and to provide assistance in getting SBA-backed financing:

[The theater] was my idea, but I had never done this before. I thought it was a good idea. But Mr. Vanchiere was the consultant and the advisor who was the motivating factor in saying, I believe in your idea. I can help you get this SBA loan. And I can also help you find a first position lender that will give you money – you know, another loan. I didn't know I needed two loans at this point. He revealed all of that to me and guided us. (Triesault dep. 71-72)

One particular area of expertise that Mr. Vanchiere brought to the table was his knowledge of the Utah business community. Mr. Triesault had only lived in Utah a few years, but Mr. Vanchiere had extensive experience in starting local businesses:

[H]e told me first that he could really be of assistance to us as an advisor because of his knowledge in this community. He knew I was fairly new here.

He knew a lot more than I did about the business climate here in Utah County. And he told me – or lead me to believe that his opinion was very valuable. (Triesault dep. 83-84)

Mr. Vanchiere made it clear that his advice would extend beyond the area of getting SBA-backed financing:

Q. [Mr. Vanchiere] would help you get a loan. Anything else?

A. That he would advise us as to the business itself and what he thought of it and what he thought about its viability. He would make suggestions to us. He would guide us along. He would work with our attorney. He would come down and take a look at it and he would follow along the development of the project. And we could call him for advice along the way. He was our mentor. (Triesault dep. 101)

¹ The transcripts of the depositions of Jon Triesault and Mike Vanchiere are part of the record on appeal, but were not numbered by the clerk's office. They will therefore be cited by referring directly to the pages of the deposition transcript.

Plaintiffs relied heavily not only on Mr. Vanchiere's advice, but also his general opinion that the project was viable:

Before meeting Mr. Vanchiere, the other plaintiffs in this matter and I had not completely committed ourselves to the theater project. To make it work, I was going to have to put my whole life-savings on the line. Mr. Vanchiere assured me that the project was economically viable and would work. (Rec 000544)

Mr. Vanchiere proceeded to advise and consult with plaintiffs on every aspect of the project, including the number of screens the theater should have (Triesault dep. 87-88), the types of movies it should show (Triesault dep. 91), the kinds of decorations it should have (Triesault dep. 91), what promotions and other ways there were to get the community involved (Triesault dep 91), the corporate structure plaintiffs' should create (Rec 000542), and even how to run the concession stands. (Triesault dep 92-93). Mr. Triesault described this consulting as "brainstorming" with Mr. Vanchiere where they would:

talk about how the theater would develop and what we would do with it and how we could run it and how we could maximize our potential. (Triesault dep. 92)

One of Mr. Vanchiere's most important functions was getting plaintiffs SBA-backed financing. Before moving on to the specifics of Mr. Vanchiere's role in this process, however, it is useful to pause and describe how SBA-backed financing works.

The SBA's Section 504 loan program

Plaintiffs applied under the Section 504 loan program, which provides long term permanent financing for small businesses. The financing typically involves a package with three components: the borrower contributes 10%, a private bank loans 50% and a certified development company loans the remaining 40%. The certified development company's loan

loan is funded by debentures that are backed by a 100% SBA guarantee.² The defendant in this case is the certified development company.

The SBA guarantee is the key to the whole scheme. Section 504 loans are made to businesses that are unable to qualify for private financing. 13 C.F.R. § 120.101. The private lender contributes 50% of the financing, but with a senior lien on all the project's assets. While the private lender would not provide full funding for the project, they will almost always agree to provide 50% of the funding, secured by 100% of the assets. The remaining 40% is provided by a certified development company such as the defendant, which raises the money by selling debentures. The sale of those debentures is a simple matter because the SBA provides a 100% guarantee of their repayment. Thus, with the SBA guarantee in hand, a financing package can be created for small businesses that would not otherwise qualify for funding.

There is, not surprisingly, a complex application process involved in securing the SBA's approval for a Section 504 loan. An applicant must show the SBA that it meets the general eligibility requirements for SBA loans (13 C.F.R. § 120.100), that credit is not available from any other source (13 C.F.R. § 120.101), that it is a kind of business eligible for an SBA loan (13 C.F.R. § 120.110), that it plans to use the loan proceeds for eligible uses (13 C.F.R. § 120.120), that it meets the SBA's lending criteria (13 C.F.R. § 120.150), and that it meets a host of additional requirements specific to 504 loans. *See* 13 C.F.R. §§ 120.880 – 120.923. A detailed application must be completed to show that all of the requirements have been met. 13 C.F.R. § 120.191.

² 13. C.F.R. §120.801; <http://www.sbaonline.sba.gov/financing/sbalan/cdc504.html>; Title V of the Small Business Investment Act, 15 U.S.C. 695 to 697f.

Deseret's role in the SBA loan application process

The existence of these labyrinthine regulations should not be unexpected; one is, after all, applying for financial backing from the federal government. Neither Mr. Triesault nor any of the other plaintiffs had any prior knowledge of the SBA loan process. They placed complete trust and confidence in Mr. Vanchiere to handle this for them and Mr. Vanchiere accepted this role. (Rec 000544) Mr. Vanchiere agreed not only to guide plaintiffs through the 504 process, but also to help secure the private lender that would provide the first 50% of the financing. (Triesault dep. 71)

Mr. Vanchiere's offer to undertake the SBA application process on plaintiffs' behalf was consistent with Deseret's public statements about the services it provides for customers. Deseret's web site describes the company's role as follows:

The Deseret Certified Development Company staff members are public sector finance specialists. They work with all types of businesses in assessing financial needs and in selecting the most appropriate public sector finance programs.

(Rec 000306; emphasis added).

This statement touting Deseret's expertise is also consistent with the services such a company is authorized to provide by federal regulation:

Services a CDC [certified development company] provides to small businesses.

(a) ... It must market the 504 program, package and process 504 loan applications, and close and service 504 loans....

(b) A CDC may provide small businesses with *financial and technical assistance*....

13 C.F.R. § 120.827 (emphasis added).

These statements are also consistent with The Standard Industrial Code Title Deseret selected for its filings with the Utah Department of Commerce. Deseret chose 6282, a code that means Deseret has designated itself a “seller of investment advice.” (Rec 000305)

The SBA considers many factors in deciding whether to grant a Section 504 loan, including the “strength of the business,” “projected cash flow,” and the “potential for future success.” 13 C.F.R. § 120.150. The starting point for an SBA application, therefore, is the development of a business plan, and Mr. Vanchiere worked closely with plaintiffs on the preparation of this plan. (Rec 000271) Specifically, Mr. Triesault and Mr. Vanchiere discussed the fact that 10,000 people per movie screen was a generally accepted number used to determine the economic viability of rural movie theaters. Plaintiffs’ proposed theater was going to have eight screens. The targeted market was from southern Provo to south of Nephi, an area that included approximately 80,000 people. Plaintiffs and Mr. Vanchiere concluded, therefore, that the proposed theater had a sufficient population of potential customers to support a successful movie theater. (Rec 000271)

Mr. Vanchiere also helped plaintiffs prepare a statement of the theater’s projected cash flow for the business plan by providing plaintiffs with the necessary formulas. (Rec 000270) Plaintiffs viewed Mr. Vanchiere as the expert in creating a business plan that would pass muster under the SBA’s criteria. (Rec 000268)

Once all the required materials had been collected, Mr. Vanchiere provided plaintiffs with all of the necessary application documents and provided considerable assistance in filling them out. Those documents included the loan applications, personal financial statements, business plans and individual resumes. (Rec 000271)

Mr. Vanchiere advised plaintiffs what to include in their personal loan applications, personal financial statements and resumes. For instance, Mr. Vanchiere found out that Mr. Triesault had rental properties in California worth approximately \$1,000,000.00. Initially, Mr. Triesault had not included those properties on any of the documents. Mr. Vanchiere advised him to include the information regarding his California rental properties in the applications and financial statements. (Rec 000271)

Throughout this process, Mr. Vanchiere continued to provide advice that went beyond what was necessary for obtaining the SBA loan, encompassing general business advice on how to make the project successful. For example, Mr. Vanchiere suggested to plaintiffs that they needed to hire a manager to run the theater because they lacked the necessary experience, and plaintiffs proceeded to hire a manager. (Rec 000270)

Deseret acts as plaintiffs' agent for all dealings with the SBA

Once the application was complete, it needed to be submitted to the SBA for approval. First, however, Mr. Vanchiere and Deseret reviewed the application to decide if it would likely meet the SBA's criteria. (Rec 000269) Once Desert decided the application would likely be acceptable to the SBA, it was Deseret that submitted the application to the SBA, not the plaintiffs. The plaintiffs did not know where or to what office the application was submitted. (Rec 000269)

From this point forward, all communications with the SBA were handled for plaintiffs by Deseret. To this day, plaintiffs have never had a single direct communication with the SBA. (Rec 000269) When plaintiffs had to petition the SBA for approval of some action they sought to take, Deseret would make that request for them. When the SBA

would respond to such a petition, it would provide its response to Deseret, not plaintiffs. (Rec 000268)

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