2004

Jon and Elizabeth Triesault, Raymon and Stephanie Bori, individuals, Imagination Theaters, Inc., a corporation, and Imagination Theaters Holdings, L.L.C., a limited liability company v. The Greater Salt Lake Business District, a Utah corporation, doing business as Deseret CDC : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly ruled, as a matter of law, that Deseret did not owe plaintiffs a fiduciary duty and therefore could assist a potentially competing movie theater in procuring SBA-backed funding. The trial judge recognized that it was his responsibility to determine whether, in light of the relevant facts, Deseret owed any duty to the plaintiffs in the first instance. The very nature of the relationship between an SBA certified development company (Deseret) and a borrower (plaintiffs) is such that no fiduciary or agency relationship (which the law does not lightly recognize) can be established. Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate that Deseret acted as plaintiffs' agent.

Deseret's role in plaintiffs' loan process negated plaintiffs' claims of a fiduciary relationship. Deseret was not an implied-in-law fiduciary for plaintiffs because plaintiffs have not presented any evidence that Deseret was subject to plaintiffs' control, nor that Deseret consented to be under plaintiffs' control. And finally, public policy disfavors imposing a fiduciary duty in this case. Plaintiffs cannot stop competition between small businesses or curtail the SBA loan program by its after-the-fact attempts to create a special relationship with Deseret.

Second, the trial court correctly ruled that expert testimony was required on the issue of whether Deseret's involvement in the loan application of plaintiffs' potential competitor, caused plaintiffs' business to fail. Plaintiffs never had or presented any evidence that Deseret's actions caused their business to fail. This is complex causation question, but plaintiffs lacked both factual and expert evidence. Without expert evidence, and given the various possibilities that contributed to the Theater's failure as admitted by the plaintiffs, there was no rational way for a jury to extract, without engaging conjecture or speculation, that the failure of the Imagination Theaters was caused by Deseret's assistance with the Payson Theater loan. Similarly, the jury could not possibly find that the Payson theater would have been unable to open without Deseret's assistance in finding SBA 504 financing.

Finally, the trial court correctly determined that plaintiffs failed to adduce evidence sufficient to withstand summary judgment on their intentional interference with prospective economic relations claims. Plaintiffs failed to prove the necessary elements

of such a claim. Because Deseret owed no duty to plaintiffs and it was appropriate for it to act as the SBA's CDC on other loans, there could be no improper means. In addition, as previously stated, Deseret did not cause plaintiffs' alleged damages, as required for an intentional interference claim.

Therefore, Deseret respectfully requests that this court uphold the trial court's careful and correct grant of Summary Judgment.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT DESERET DID NOT OWE PLAINTIFFS A DUTY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The trial court granted Deseret's Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of whether Deseret owed a fiduciary duty to plaintiffs. In doing so, the trial court properly ruled as a matter of law that Deseret did not have a fiduciary relationship with plaintiffs, as they had alleged. Furthermore, to the extent that the existence of duty involved any partial question of fact, the court realized that reasonable jurors could not have reached any different conclusion. Whether or not there is a duty owed by one party to another, including the nature of that duty, is a question of law for the trial court to determine. In *Weber v. Springville City*, 725 P.2d 1360 (Utah 1986), the Utah Supreme Court held:

The question of whether a "duty" exists is a question of law, and this Court, which is not bound by the trial court's conclusions, may independently review the issue. Accordingly, the lack of legal conclusions in the record does not in any respect hinder our decision.

725 P.2d at 1363. Accord, *Hale v. Beckstead*, 2003 UT App. 240, 74 P.3d 628;

Fishbaugh v. Utah Power & Light, 969 P.2d 403, 405 (Utah 1998); *Loveland v. Orem*

City Corp, 746 P.2d 763, 765-66 (Utah 1987). Facing the trial below, the trial judge and parties confronted a significant practical problem. Before the court could charge the jury to decide whether there was a breach of duty, the parties and the jury needed to know the nature of any such duty. The trial judge must make such legal determinations; it was his responsibility to determine whether, in light of the relevant facts, the Defendant owed any duty to the plaintiffs in the first instance.

Plaintiffs contend that Deseret was a “fiduciary,” with the legal duties attendant to that status, based on arguments that (1) it was an “agent” owing a fiduciary duty of loyalty, and/or (2) it became an implied-in-law fiduciary on account of the “special and unique relationship” between the parties. The consideration, and ultimately the final determination, of such issues are reserved for the trial court, not the finder of fact. In an attempt to overcome the principle that duty is a question of law, and to put their case before a jury, plaintiffs argued that Deseret acted as plaintiffs’ agent, and that the determination of agency contains factual nuances reserved for a jury. Indeed, plaintiffs assert that there is “ample evidence that Deseret acted as plaintiffs’ agent, and the question of the existence of an agency relationship should not have been resolved on a motion for summary judgment.” (Plaintiffs’ Brief, p. 26). Plaintiffs’ assertion neglects the practical problem that the jury needs instructions on the law before it can make factual determinations based thereon, and ignores the court’s duty to determine issues of law.

Sound policy supports the trial court’s grant of summary judgment finding no duty. The law does not lightly recognize the existence of a confidential relationship. See *Von*

Hake v. Thomas, 705 P.2d 766, 770 (Utah 1985). Nevertheless, plaintiffs argue case law to suggest that a fiduciary relationship is “generally a question of fact.” Contrary to plaintiffs’ assertion, *Von Hake* does not support their position. In *Von Hake*, the Utah Supreme Court reviewed a verdict in favor of an 82-year old property owner who sued the purchaser for fraud, and breach of an allegedly confidential relationship giving rise to a fiduciary duty. The elderly seller, who had an opportunity to consult with his attorney, alleged that the purchaser committed fraud in inducing him to sign over the property. The Court upheld the verdict; however, in doing so, it likewise determined that no fiduciary relationship existed between the plaintiff and purchaser. *Id.* at 770.

While the *Von Hake* Court noted that the existence of a “confidential relationship” is generally a question of fact,⁸ it nevertheless found as a matter of law, as the reviewing appellate court, that there was no fiduciary duty under these circumstances. The Court explained that with regard to a confidential or fiduciary relationship, circumstances may arise when, “even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to [the] verdict, the evidence is insufficient to support it.” *Id.* The Court also found that “a confidential relationship arises when one party, having gained the trust and confidence of another, exercises extraordinary influence over the other party.” *Id.* at 669 (citing *Blodgett v. Martsch*, 590 P.2d 298, 302 (Utah 1978)). The Court stated:

The law presumes that one ordinarily makes his or her own judgments, however imperfect, and acts on them; it does not

⁸ The terms “confidential” and “fiduciary” have sometimes been used interchangeably by the Utah Supreme Court in past cases. *See, e.g., State Bank of Southern Utah v. Troy Hygro Systems, Inc.*, 894 P.2d 1270, 1275 (Utah 1995).

readily assume that one's will has been overborne by another. Therefore, the law does not lightly recognize the existence of a confidential relationship.

Id. at 770 (emphasis added). In reaching the conclusion that “the evidence is insufficient to establish that a confidential relationship arose,” the Court examined extensively the evidence adduced by the plaintiff at trial. *Id.* The Court found “no long-established relationship of trust,” and no relationship that “traditionally imposes a fiduciary duty, such as an attorney/client relationship.” *Id.* Likewise, Von Hake knew that he could and should consult his own attorney, and there was “no evidence that at any time Von Hake relinquished control over his own decision making.” *Id.* After reviewing the facts, the Utah Supreme Court held: “Accordingly, the evidence here cannot support a finding of a confidential relationship.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The circumstances in *Von Hake* are remarkably similar to those in this case. In the case at bar, plaintiff Triesault possessed experience in the movie and entertainment business, being employed in various capacities involving film directing, participating in the Director's Guild, investigating the movie theater business in Utah, finding a business partner, and located the property in Spanish Fork for a movie theater. (**R. at 126, 127, 129**). Triesault and his business partner selected the theater site without the advice of outside experts or consultants. (**R. at 126**).

In contrast, Deseret and Vanchiere never claimed to have movie or theater experience. At no time did Vanchiere make any representations that he had any expertise in the movie business during Triesault's involvement with Deseret in order to obtain SBA

financing. (R. at 121). Rather, Vanchiere indicated during his meetings with Triesault and Bori that “his job was to advise people and pass judgment basically on whether or not they would qualify for a SBA loan.” *Id.*

Moreover, plaintiffs had an attorney and consulted with him. At or prior to negotiating the acquisition of the Theater site, Triesault engaged the services and advice of attorney Paul Newton. (R. at 122-23). Newton continually advised Triesault in matters regarding the acquisition of the Theater site and with business matters generally, both before and after the acquisition of the Theater site, including setting up Imagination Theaters, LLC and Imagination Theaters, Inc, as well as financing, and dealing with Deseret. (R. at 123). During Triesault’s attempts to procure SBA-backed financing, Mr. Newton and Vanchiere engaged in frequent consultation and negotiation. (Triesault Depo. at 86:12-21). They made their own decisions about location, business plan, type of facility, showing second-run movies, the subsequent change to first-run movies, and all other key business decisions. When Vanchiere met with Triesault and others, he made no specific decisions with regard to equipment selection, architectural plans, or construction, and made no specific representation that he had particular knowledge or expertise in the movie theater business. (R. at 113-14). Indeed, plaintiffs’ only reliance on Deseret and Vanchiere was in the loan application and processing. Significantly, in exactly the same way that the elderly seller in *Von Hake* failed to adduce evidence that he relinquished control over his own decision making, Triesault admits that he never substituted Vanchiere’s will for his own. (R. at 113).

Plaintiffs' claim of reliance extends far beyond the loan, however, and is without factual or legal basis. Perhaps most important, the very nature of the relationship between plaintiffs and Deseret refutes the possibility of a fiduciary relationship. Plaintiffs knew that they were getting an SBA loan, and the most superficial level of direct inquiry or independent research would have readily established that the SBA is charged with administering a loan program to all qualifying businesses, even competing businesses. Deseret was the only SBA certified development company in the area at the time in question, so of course it must work with competing businesses in their various SBA loans, consistent with the nature of the program. As will be set forth more fully, the facts cannot support a finding that a confidential relationship existed.

By virtue of the *Von Hake* Court's determination of "insufficient evidence" to support a verdict on the issue of a fiduciary relationship, a trial court must review the facts to determine whether they are sufficient to support a claim that a fiduciary duty exists or has been created. When a party properly puts that issue before the trial court on a motion for summary judgment, as in the trial court below, and the opposing party is unable to present facts sufficient to support a finding of a fiduciary relationship, as below, then summary judgment provides the appropriate resolution.

The existence of a confidential relationship may present a question of fact. Nevertheless, it is well-established that "when the evidence is insufficient to support a verdict, the trial court has the duty to decide the issue." *Bingham v. Rasekh*, 2003 UT App 434, 2003 WL 22966236, *1 (unpublished decision, see Addendum) (rev'd on other

grounds) (citing *Rhoads v. Harvey Publ'ns, Inc.*, 700 P.2d 840, 846 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1984)). For example, in *Bingham*, the Utah Court of Appeals held that even if it were to assume that a confidential relationship existed, Bingham did not relinquish control over her own decision-making and there was no evidence of the requisite exercise of extraordinary control. *Id.* Consequently, Bingham “failed to adduce sufficient evidence to defeat summary judgment” on the issue of fiduciary duty. *Id.*

Likewise, the Utah Court of Appeals, in *State Bank of Southern Utah v. Troy Hygro Sys. Inc.*, 894 P.2d 1270, 1275 (Ut. Ct. App. 1995), affirmed summary judgment finding that the bank had no special or fiduciary relationship with its borrower. The *Troy Hygro* court noted that despite the allegations that Hygro trusted the bank, the plaintiff presented no evidence in support of these claims. *Id.* Stating that “mere confidence in one party by another is not sufficient alone to constitute a fiduciary or confidential relationship,” the Court of Appeals held that the claims “fail as a matter of law.” *Id.* More recently, the Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of a confidential relations claim in *Kuhre v. Goodfellow*, 2003 UT App 85, ¶20, 69 P.3d 286. The Court of Appeals disagreed with the plaintiff’s assertion that the trial court “should not be allowed to make fact-intensive determinations as to whether or not a confidential relationship existed.” *Id.* at ¶19. The court stated: “Mere conclusory allegations in a pleading, unsupported by a recitation of relevant surrounding facts, are insufficient to preclude dismissal.” *Id.* (citing *Chapman v. Primary Children’s Hosp.*, 784 P.2d 1181, 1186

(Utah 1989)). The *Kuhre* court stated that the facts alleged by the plaintiffs, “even when assumed to be true, do no rise to the level of a confidential relationship.” *Id.*

Plaintiffs apparently contend that this case raises at least mixed questions of fact and law. However, even if that were true, the trial court’s decision was appropriate and should be upheld. See *State v. Hansen*, 2002 UT 125, ¶26 n.3, 63 P.3d 650 (“A mixed question involves the application of law to fact, or stated more fully, the determination of whether a given set of facts comes within the reach of a given rule of law.”). In such instances, a reviewing court reviews “legal questions for correctness, but [it may] grant a trial court discretion in its application of the law to a given fact situation.” *Covey v. Covey*, 2003 UT App. 380 at ¶17; See also, *State v. Irizarry*, 945 P.2d 676, 683 (Utah 1997) (“while in reviewing a mixed question of fact and law appellate courts are free to make an independent determination of the trial court’s conclusions . . . the trial court’s factual findings shall not be set aside on appeal unless clearly erroneous.”).

In reaching conclusions on legal issues, a court must determine what evidence is available and must consider such facts. A factual determination of liability must rest on a breach of a legally cognizable duty. “Without a duty, there can be no negligence as a matter of law and summary judgment is appropriate.” *Nelson v. Salt Lake City*, 919 P.2d 568, 572 (Utah 1996). It is apparent that Judge Howard correctly recognized that the determination of whether a duty exists is one for the trial court. Accordingly, the jury could consider whether Deseret breached a fiduciary duty only if the court had ruled that a duty existed, and had defined the nature and scope of that duty.

In *First Sec. Bank of Utah N.A. v. Banberry Development Corp.*, 786 P.2d 1326

(Utah 1990), the Utah Supreme Court recognized two types of fiduciary relationships:

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